IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CHERRI S. CASE

APPELLANT

VS.

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

GEORGE S. LUTER

MSB #

405 Tombigbee Street

Post Office Box 3656

Jackson, Mississippi 39207-3656

Telephone: (601) 948-0021

Facsimile: (601) 948-0093

GEOLAW1502@AOL.COM

Attorney for Appellant

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CHERRI S. CASE

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2006-SA-01704

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The appellant, Cherri Case, files this Brief to urge the Supreme Court to reverse the order of the Hinds County Circuit Court which, on August 28, 2006, affirmed the order of the Board of Trustees of the Public Employees' Retirement System of Mississippi (hereafter "PERS") entered April 22, 2002 which adopted the recommendation of the PERS Disability Appeals Committee.

The Disability Appeals Committee found "...the Committee is sympathetic to the claimant's financial concerns, but does not feel an award of disability based on work-related stress and anxiety is appropriate where a claimant has never been evaluated or treated by a licensed Psychiatrist or Clinical Psychologist, even if the claimant asserts financial inability to seek care from these specialists." (R 23, RE 70 Tab 12).

II.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The decision of PERS' denying Case's application for disability retirement is not supported by substantial evidence because Case's medical disability is supported by reports of her treating internist, cardiologist, the report of her principal, and the Committee erroneously relied on the report of their examining physiatrist, Dr. Jo Lynn Polk, who stated Case could only work "part time."
- 2. Alternatively, the decision of PERS should be reversed and remanded for PERS to obtain a psychiatric report due to PERS' failure to order a psychiatric evaluation, to obtain the records regarding her cervical fusion, and to obtain Case's Social Security disability decision and review the psychological report obtained in that case a week before

her PERS hearing to afford Case due process.

Ш.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Cherri Case was employed as a secretary for the Brookhaven School District for 10.75 years. R 84, RE 12, Tab 10). After suffering numerous health problems, Case applied for disability retirement on September 28, 2001. (R 87, RE 1, Tab 1).

Brookhaven School District Finance Director Sandra Earnest on August 29, 2001 certified that Case could not perform her job stating "Current medical diagnosis causes muscle and joint pain, severe headaches, affects alertness and mental focus. heart irregularities, and high blood pressure. These disabilities prevent her from performing day to day duties." (R 90, RE 3, Tab 2).

On September 5, 2001, treating internist Dr. Braxter P. Irby, Jr. reported that he first saw Case on March 3, 1995 with supraventricular tachycardia and atrial fibrillation with rapid response. He stated she "continues to have intermittent atrial fibrillation, fibromyalgias syndrome, osteoarthritis, anxiety and depressive neurosis and hypertensive cardiovascular disease" and added her condition was "chronic and long term in nature and her prognosis is poor" and stated Case was "no longer able to perform her duties as a secretary on a full or part time basis" and it was his "...recommendation that this lady be allowed to retire as her condition merits long-term disability." (R 130, RE 4, Tab 3).

Jackson cardiologist Dr. David H. Mulholland reported on September 19, 2001 that Case was "disabled to work on the basis of severe nearly uncontrollable hypertension associated with atrial arrhythmia, atrial flutter." He added "I believe that Cherri's work activities probably contribute materially to the difficulty of controlling her hypertension. Severe hypertension of this magnitude is almost certain to lead to further medical problems such as congestive heart

failure. (R 196, RE 4-A, Tab 4).

On October 25, 2001, Case's principal, Roy A. Ballentine, wrote:

"It has been my experience with Cherri that she has difficulty fulfilling her job responsibilities in a reliable manner due to her multiple health problems. She is chronically fatigued, has heart palpitations, high blood pressure, migraines, fibromyalgia, and other health problems. These symptoms contribute to her extremely excessive absenteeism from work, sometimes for more than a week at a time. She is on the job about forty to fifty percent of the time. ...It is my opinion that she is not able to maintain the consistent, reliable schedule that is required for holding a job in any occupation, due to the frequency of her absences caused by her condition." (R 91, RE 5, Tab 5).

On February 28, 2002, Dr. Jo Lynn Polk, independent medical examiner for PERS, reported that Case had numerous medical problems but could work "part time" adding, "Physical therapy, would increase her endurance to allow her to work part time." She added "She has not had formal psychotherapy to address her depression and anxiety. Therefore, there is not enough medical evidence to support a disability based on her mental condition." (R 101, RE 8, Tab 6).

On April 10, 2002, Case was informed by PERS Executive Director Frank Ready that the PERS Medical Board had determined that "there was insufficient objective evidence to support the claim that your medical condition prevents you from performing your duties as described of a Secretary." (R 447, RE 9-A, Tab 8).

On May 1, 2002, Dr. Irby again reported that Case was "now on Effexor for stress reaction with anxiety and depressive neurosis" and that he had "recommended she see a psychiatrist or a clinical psychologist for her depression..." adding "This lady is both physically and mentally unable to perform her duties due to the depressive neurosis, stress reaction, the fibromyalgia syndrome with joint pain. The stress of her work aggravates her atrial fibrillation and her depression. I feel strongly that she is disabled and would hope that you would reconsider her situation before denying her disability." (R 455, RE 9, Tab 7).

On May 1, 2002, Case filed her Notice of Appeal for a hearing before the PERS Disability Appeals Committee. (R 76, RE 10, TAb 9).

Case was afforded a hearing before the PERS Disability Appeals Committee consisting of Drs. Joseph Blackston, presiding, David Duddleston, and William Nicholas on July 29, 2002. (R 25, RE 13, Tab 11). Case was then represented at the hearing by attorney Michael Taylor of Brookhaven, Mississippi.

At the hearing, Case testified she was terminated from the school district on February 21, 2002, but had not worked since January 18, 2002. She stated her health began to decline in 1995 when she started having high blood pressure and heart fluttering and that she had chronic hypertension for years. (R 31, RE 19, Tab 11). She added that she tried to work and had done so for 29 years, having quit earlier in 1982 when she drew her retirement funds out. (R 32, RE 20, Tab 11). She testified since 1995 that she had probably only worked 50 percent of the time." (R 32, RE 20, Tab 11). She added the high blood pressure makes her "feel bad. I feel so bad I can't do my job that's expected of me. It gives me headaches. I feel weak. When I rise up, I get dizzy, and if I have to-jobs that I have to do, I just can't do them the way they need to be done because I feel so bad. My blood pressure makes me feel so bad." (R 39, RE 27, Tab 11).

Case testified she had also had a cervical fusion three years before performed by Dr. [Winston] Capel [Jackson neurosurgeon] and that her neck hurts and pain radiates down her arms and shoulders." R 56, RE 44, Tab 11).

On cross examination, PERS attorney Margo Bowers only asked Case if she had applied for Social Security disability and Case stated she had but "They're still in the process of getting all the information together." 1 R 57, Re 45, Tab 11).

On examination by her attorney, Case testified she had a lot of pain from her neck surgery and that Dr. Irby had put her on several medications for depression and that the Social Security

⁴

¹ Case was subsequently approved for Social Security Disability in late 2002 with the benefits beginning June 2003 after the statutory five month waiting period. (RE 78, Tab 14).

Administration had sent her for a psychological evaluation to a Dr. D'Ilio in Columbia² the Thursday before her PERS hearing. (R 60, RE 48, Tab 11). She stated her depression seemed to getting worse. (R 61, RE 49, Tab 11).

Case further testified that Dr. Jo Lynn Polk's exam lasted only fifteen minutes and that she did not take her blood pressure. (R 63, RE 51, Tab 11).

Case's husband briefly testified that his wife was in "pretty constant pain" and "She's in the bed a lot, and this blood pressure problem, it's either quit work or die." R 66, RE 54, Tab 11).

After the record was closed, the Committee allowed school district financial director Susan Quinn to testify that Case was placed on administrative leave regarding certain school funds but such investigation that had not been completed. (R 70, RE 58, Tab 11),

On July 29, 2002, the PERS Disability Appeals Committee recommended that Case's application for disability retirement be denied stating "The PERS Disability Appeals Committee is sympathetic to the claimant's financial concerns, but does not feel an award of disability based on work-related stress and anxiety is appropriate where a claimant has never been evaluated or treated by a licensed Psychiatrist or Clinical Psychologist; even if the claimant asserts financial inability to seek care from these specialists." (R70, RE 23, Tab 12).

The PERS Board of Trustees entered its order adopting such recommendation on April 22, 2002. (R 14, RE 72, Tab 13).

Case timely appealed to Circuit Court on May 22, 2003 after her prior attorney received a copy of such recommendation and order of the PERS Board of Trustees on April 22, 2003. (R 10, RE 73, Tab 14). The record in this case was filed by PERS with the Hinds County Circuit Clerk on June 10, 2005. On July 20, 2006, the Appellant filed a Motion to Supplement the record with her Social Security disability notification. (RE 76, Tab 14).

⁵

² Apparently, Case was referring to Martha M. D'Ilio, Ph.D. of Columbia Psychological Services, P.A. located in Petal, MS 39465

On August 28, 2006, the Hinds County Circuit Court, in a brief order without discussion, affirmed the order of the Board of Trustees of the Public Employees' Retirement System of Mississippi (hereafter "PERS"). (R 15, RE 83, Tab 14).

Case timely appealed to the Mississippi Supreme Court. (R 16, RE 84, Tab 14).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of PERS' denying Case's application for disability retirement is not supported by substantial evidence because Case's medical disability is supported by reports of her treating internist, cardiologist, the report of her principal, and even the report of their examining physiatrist, Dr. Jo Lynn Polk, who stated Case could only work "part time."

Alternatively, PERS' decision should be reversed and remanded because they did not obtain all of Case's medical records, her Social Security disability decision, or a psychiatric evaluation particularly when Case testified she had been send by a clinical psychologist the prior week at the direction of the Social Security Administration, particularly since and PERS has statutory authority to obtain such information after a hearing.

IV.

ARGUMENT

1. The decision of PERS' denying Case's application for disability retirement is not supported by substantial evidence because Case's medical disability is supported by reports of her treating internist, cardiologist, the report of her principal, and the Committee erroneously relied on the report of their examining physiatrist, Dr. Jo Lynn Polk, who stated Case could only work "part time."

The legal requirement of proving PERS disability is stated at Miss. Code Ann. 25-11-113(1)(a) which states:

"...any active member in state service who has at least four (4) years of membership service credit may be retired by the Board of Trustees... provided the Medical Board, after medical examination shall certify that

the member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that the member shall be retired."

Disability is defined in the same code section as the following:

"...the inability to perform the usual duties of employment or the incapacity to perform such lesser duties, if any, as the employer, in its discretion, may assign without material reduction in compensation, or the incapacity to perform the duties of any employment covered by the Public Employees' Retirement System (Section 25-11-101 et seq.) that is actually offered and is within the same general territorial work area, without material reduction in compensation."

Numerous lay and medical testimony support Case's contention that she could no longer perform her duty as a secretary for the Brookhaven School District.

Brookhaven School District Finance Director Sandra Earnest on August 29, 2001 certified that Case could not perform her job stating "Current medical diagnosis causes muscle and joint pain, severe headaches, affects alertness and mental focus. heart irregularities, and high blood pressure. These disabilities prevent her from performing day to day duties." R 90, RE 3, Tab 2).

On September 5, 2001, treating internist Dr. Braxter P. Irby, Jr. reported that he first saw Case on March 3, 1995 with supraventricular tachycardia and atrial fibrillation with rapid response. He stated she "continues to have intermittent atrial fibrillation, fibromyalgia, syndrome, osteoarthritis, anxiety and depressive neurosis and hypertensive cardiovascular disease" and added her condition was "chronic and long term in nature and her prognosis is poor" and stated Case was "no longer able to perform her duties as a secretary on a full or part time basis" and it was his "...recommendation that this lady be allowed to retire as her condition merits long-term disability." (R 130, RE 4, Tab 3).

Jackson cardiologist Dr. David H. Mulholland reported on September 19, 2001 that Case was "disabled to work on the basis of severe nearly uncontrollable hypertension associated with atrial arrhythmia, atrial flutter." He added "I believe that Cherri's work activities probably

contribute materially to the difficulty or controlling her hypertension. Severe hypertension of this magnitude is almost certain to lead to further medical problems such as congestive heart failure. (R 196, RE 4-A, Tab 4).

On October 25, 2001, Case's principal, Roy A. Ballentine, wrote:

"It has been my experience with Cherri that she has difficulty fulfilling her job responsibilities in a reliable manner due to her multiple health problems. She is chronically fatigued, has heart palpitations, high blood pressure, migraines, fibromyalgia, and other health problems. These symptoms contribute to her extremely excessive absenteeism from work, sometimes for more than a week at a time. She is on the job about forty to fifty percent of the time. ...It is my opinion that she is not able to maintain the consistent, reliable schedule that is required for holding a job in any occupation, due to the frequency of her absences caused by her condition." (R 91, RE 5, Tab 5).

Even Dr. Polk, PERS' medical examiner, after seeing Case for only fifteen minutes, stated Case had numerous medical problems but could work "part time" adding, "Physical therapy, would increase her endurance to allow her to work full time." She added "She has not had formal psychotherapy to address her depression and anxiety. Therefore, there is not enough medical evidence to support a disability based on her mental condition." (R 101, RE 8, Tab 6).

On May 1, 2002, Dr. Irby again reported that Case was "now on Effexor for stress reaction with anxiety and depressive neurosis" and that he had "recommended she see a psychiatrist or a clinical psychologist for her depression..." adding "This lady is both physically and mentally unable to perform her duties due to the depressive neurosis, stress reaction, the fibromyalgia syndrome with joint pain. The stress of her work aggravates her atrial fibrillation and her depression. I feel strongly that she is disabled and would hope that you would reconsider her situation before denying her disability." (R 455, RE 9, Tab 7).

The law is clear in Mississippi that the decision of an administrative agency must be undisturbed unless it is (1) not supported by substantial evidence, (2) is arbitrary and capricious,

(3) is beyond the scope or power granted to the agency, (4) violates one's constitutional rights. Public Employees' Retirement System v. Marquez. 774 So. 2d 421 (Miss. 2001); Fulce v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 759 So. 2d 401, 404 (Miss. 2000); Davis v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 750 So. 2d 1225, 1229 (Miss. 1999).

Additionally, the circuit court is "charged with the duty to review the record to determine whether there is substantial evidence...to reach a conclusion, a Circuit Court must look at the full record before it... while the Circuit Court performs limited appellate review, it is not relegated to wearing blinders." *Mississippi State Board of Examiners. v. Anderson*, 757 So. 2d 1079, 1084 (Miss. App. 2000).

Case has put forth the strong opinions of two longtime treating specialists, Drs. Irby and Mulholland, the lay opinions of her principal and school finance director, and the testimony of both herself and her husband that she could not perform her job as a secretary. The only contradictory evidence is the report of Dr. Polk who stated---not that Case could return to her old job full time---but that she could work "part time" and that 'physical therapy...would increase her endurance to allow her to work full time"---presumably at some point in the future, although Polk admitted "there is not enough evidence to support a disability based on her mental condition" ---presumably because PERS never ordered such an evaluation.

Case would contend that PERS' decision denying her application for disability retirement was arbitrary and capricious and not supported by substantial evidence and that this Court should reverse and render the order of the Hinds County Circuit Court affirming PERS and order benefits retirement benefits to be awarded to Case.

2. Alternatively, the decision of PERS should be reversed and remanded for PERS to obtain a psychiatric report due to PERS' failure to order a psychiatric evaluation, to obtain the records regarding her cervical fusion, and to obtain Case's Social Security disability decision and review the psychological report obtained in that case a week before

her PERS hearing to afford Case due process.

After the passage of House Bill 1148 in 2002, the PERS Disability Appeals Committee was given the "authority to defer a decision in order to request a medical evaluation or test or additional medical records not previously furnished by the claimant." Miss. Code Ann. 25-11-120. Further, PERS is given authority to accept a finding of disability by the Social Security Administration in lieu of a finding of disability by the PERS Medical Board. Miss. Code Ann. 25-11-113(1)(a).

Case would contend that her due process rights to a fair hearing were violated by the Committee's failure to obtain all her medical records, failure to order a psychiatric evaluation, or at least request a copy of the evaluation of the clinical psychologist the Social Security Administration requested in its case which Case testified had been performed **only the prior week before the hearing.**

The Mississippi Supreme Court in *Dean v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 797 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2000) stated that "Administrative hearings should be conducted in a fair and impartial manner, free from any suspicion or prejudice or unfairness. *McFadden*, 735 So. 2d at 158." *See also Burns v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 748 So. 2d 181 (Miss. App. 1999) which states: "Both the United States and Mississippi Constitutions guarantee the right to due process of law before an administrative agency. U.S. Const. amend XIV; Miss. Const. art. 3, sect. 14. Administrative proceedings must be "conducted in a fair and impartial manner, free from any just suspicion or prejudice, unfairness, fraud or oppression." *Mississippi State Bd. of Health v. Johnson*, 197 Miss. 417, 19 So. 2d 445, 447 (1944).

Case would argue that the Disability Appeals Committee violated her due process rights to a fair hearing when it failed to obtain or request the psychological report of an examination performed the week before at the instance of the Social Security Administration when such could have afforded Case the evidence to prove her disability. Instead, the Committee used the *absence*

of such information in their opinion as a basis for denying her claim stating:

"The PERS Disability Appeals Committee is sympathetic to the claimant's financial concerns, but does not feel an award of disability based on work-related stress and anxiety is appropriate where a claimant has never been evaluated or treated by a licensed Psychiatrist or Clinical Psychologist, even if the claimant asserts financial inability to seek care from these specialists."

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