### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

**CHERRIS. CASE** 

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

CAUSE NO. 2006-SA-01704

**APPELLEE** 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI (PERS)

#### BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

Mary Margaret Bowers Special Assistant Attorney General Public Employees' Retirement System 429 Mississippi Street Jackson, Mississippi 39201-1005 Telephone: (601) 359-3592

(601) 359-3680

Fax. No. (601) 359-2285 Mississippi Bar No.

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

**CHERRI S. CASE** 

APPELLANT

**VERSUS** 

CAUSE NO. 2006-SA-01704

APPELLEE

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI (PERS)

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Before the Circuit Court and now before this Honorable Court, Ms. Case notes that PERS has the statutory authority to accept a determination of disability by the Social Security Administration. There is no obligation on the part of PERS to accept a determination from Social Security, particularly when the Board of Trustees has referred to the certification from the Medical Board. Further, there are noted differences between the manner in which Social Security determines whether an individual is disabled, and the method PERS uses to determine eligibility for entitlement to the receipt of a disability benefit.

Ms. Case also asserted before the Circuit Court and now this Court that the PERS Board violated her right to due process by not obtaining a psychiatric evaluation, as well as records regarding her cervical fusion. This is simply not the case. The law is clear that at the administrative level the burden is on Ms. Case to show that she meets the requirements for the receipt of a disability benefit.

The recommendation of the Disability Appeals Committee and Order of the PERS Board of Trustees are based on substantial evidence and are neither arbitrary nor capricious. The Board made its decision based on substantial evidence, PERS' Regulations, as well as the statutes defining disability under Mississippi law.

Although Ms. Case alleged numerous medical conditions contributing to her disability, she asserts that her most significant problems are hypertension and heart problems. The record, however, is devoid of any evidence that would support such a claim. Furthermore, the record does not show any evidence that Ms. Case suffered from any other medical problems to such a degree to constitute disability as defined under the statute. There is also evidence in the record that Ms. Case's termination was due to something other than her medical condition and may not have been voluntary.

Based on the evidence and the testimony elicited at the hearing appearing in the record, it is clear that the only decision the Board of Trustees could, and did make, was that Ms. Case does not meet the requirements for a disability benefit under PERS law. The Board's decision is, thus, supported by substantial evidence and is neither arbitrary nor capricious.

### **ARGUMENT**

### INTRODUCTION

The Public Employees' Retirement System of Mississippi (PERS) was established in 1953 to provide retirement and other benefits to covered employees of the state, and its political subdivisions and instrumentalities. Chapter 299, Mississippi Laws of 1952.

In addition to service retirement benefits, disability retirement benefits are provided for members who meet the statutory requirements for such benefits. There are two categories of disability benefits available to PERS members: (1) a regular disability benefit payable to members who have at least four (4) years of creditable service and who become disabled for any reason, and (2) a hurt-on-the-job disability benefit, payable to members regardless of the number of years of creditable service, where the member becomes disabled due to an injury occurring in the line of duty. Miss. Code Ann. Sections 25-11-113 and 25-11-114 (Rev. 2006).

Applications for disability benefits are reviewed by the PERS Medical Board, which reviews and passes upon all medical examinations for disability purposes. The PERS Medical Board is composed of physicians appointed by the PERS Board of Trustees. Miss. Code Ann. Section 25-11-119 (Rev. 2006). Any person aggrieved by a determination of the PERS Medical Board may request a hearing before the designated hearing officer of the PERS Board of Trustees. Miss. Code Ann. Section 25-11-120.

Miss. Code Ann. Section 25-11-113(1)(a) which relates to disability retirement provides, in relevant part:

Upon the application of a member or his employer, any active member in state service who has at least four (4) years of membership service credit may be retired by the

board of trustees on the first of the month following the date of filing such application on a disability retirement allowance, but in no event shall the disability retirement allowance commence before termination of state service, provided that the medical board, after a medical examination, shall certify that the member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that such incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that the member should be retired; however, the board of trustees may accept a disability medical determination from the Social Security Administration in lieu of a certification from the medical board.

The question before the PERS Medical Board, the Disability Appeals Committee and the PERS Board of Trustees was whether Ms. Case's claim meets the statutory requirements for receipt of a disability benefit. Miss. Code Ann. Section 25-11-113(1)(a) defines disability as:

... the inability to perform the usual duties of employment or the incapacity to perform such lesser duties, if any, as the employer, in its discretion, may assign without material reduction in compensation, or the incapacity to perform the duties of any employment covered by the Public Employees' Retirement System (Section 25-11-101 et seq.) that is actually offered and is within the same general territorial work area, without material reduction in compensation.

The issue before the Circuit Court was whether the decision of the Board of Trustees is supported by substantial evidence and whether it is arbitrary or capricious.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 5.03 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit Court Practice limits review by this Court to a determination of whether the Board of Trustees' decision was: (1) supported by substantial evidence; or (2) was arbitrary or capricious; or (3) was not beyond the

authority of the Board to make; or (4) did not violate a statutory or constitutional right of Ms. Case. Brakefield v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 940 So. 2d 945, 947 (Miss. App. Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d 1279, 1284 (Miss. 2005); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps, 898 So. 2d 664, 673 (Miss. 2005); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Smith, 880 So. 2d 348, 350 (Miss. App. 2004); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Henderson, 867 So. 2d 262, 264 (Miss. 2004); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So. 2d 888, 891 (Miss. 2001); Byrd v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 774 So. 2d 434, 437(Miss. 2000); Brinston v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 706 So. 2d 258, 259 (Miss. 1998).

A reviewing Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the agency rendering the decision and may not reweigh the facts. Brakefield v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 940 So. 2d at 948; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d. at 1285; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps, 898 So. 2d at 673; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Smith, 880 So. 2d at 350; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So. 2d at 891; Melody Manor Convalescent Center v. Mississippi State Department of Health, 546 So. 2d 972, 974 (Miss. 1989); United Cement Company v. Safe Air for the Environment, 558 So. 2d 840, 842 (Miss. 1990); ) In Mississippi State Tax Commission v. Mississippi-Alabama State Fair, 222 So. 2d 664, 665 (Miss. 1969), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated:

Our Constitution does not permit the judiciary of this state to retry de novo matters on appeal from administrative agencies and are not permitted to make administrative decisions and perform the functions of an administrative agency. Administrative agencies must perform the functions required of them by law. When an

administrative agency has performed its function, and has made the determination and entered the order required of it, the parties may then appeal to the judicial tribunal designated to hear the appeal. The appeal is a limited one, however, since the courts cannot enter the field of the administrative agency. [Emphasis added]

In *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Cobb*, 839 So. 2d 605, 609 (Miss. App., 2003) the Mississippi Court of Appeals noted: "[I]n administrative matters, the agency, not the reviewing court, sits as finder of fact." In the present case, the record reflects that Ms. Case has undergone medical evaluations, tests, and surgery. Several different physicians with the necessary medical training to review these reports have done so. The Court in *Cobb* went on to state: "That fact finding duty includes assessing the credibility of witnesses and determining the proper weight to give to a particular witness's testimony." On review by an appellate court it:

is obligated to afford such determinations of credibility in the fact-finding process substantial deference when reviewing an administrative determination on appeal and the court exceeds its authority when it proceeds to re-evaluate the evidence and makes its own determination of the trustworthiness of some particular testimony. (Emphasis added) 839 So. 2d at 609

In Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d at 1287, this Court reiterated that "it is for PERS, as the fact finder, to determine which evidence is more believable or carries the most weight." The findings of fact by the PERS Board of Trustees must not be disturbed on appeal "where sustained by substantial evidence." City of Meridian v. Davidson, 211 Miss. 683, 53 So. 2d 48, 57 (1951); Harris v. Canton Separate Public School Board of Education, 655 So. 2d 898, 902 (Miss. 1995).

As stated by this Court in Davidson "[t]he underlying and salient reasons for this safe and sane rule need not be repeated here." 53 So. 2d at 57. Moreover, a rebuttable presumption exists in favor of PERS' decision, and the burden of proving to the contrary is on Ms. Case. Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d at 1284; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps, 898 So. 2d at 673; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So. 2d at 891; Brinston v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 706 So. 2d at 259, Mississippi State Board of Accountancy v. Gray, 674 So. 2d 1251, 1257 (Miss. 1996), Mississippi Commission on Environmental Quality v. Chickasaw County Board of Supervisors, 621 So. 2d 1211, 1215 (Miss. 1993) Also see: Mississippi Hospital Association v. Heckler, 701 F. 2d 511, 516 (5th Cir. 1983). In Gray this Court held:

A reviewing court cannot substitute its judgment for that of the agency or reweigh the facts of the case. Chancery and Circuit Courts are held to the same standard as this Court when reviewing agency decisions. When we find the lower court has exceeded its authority in overturning an agency decision we will reverse and reinstate the decision. 674 So. 2d at 1253 [Emphasis added]

In Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So. 2d at 893, this Court stated that "the applicant for disability has the burden of proving to the Medical Board and to the Appeals Committee that he or she is in fact disabled". In Public Employees' Retirement System v. Henderson 867 So. 2d 262, 264 (Miss. App. 2004) the Court citing Doyle v. Public Employees' Retirement System 808 So. 2d 902, 905 (Miss 2002) noted: "It is not this courts job to determine whether the claimant has presented enough evidence to prove she is disabled, but whether PERS has presented enough evidence to support its finding that the claimant is not disabled." Clearly, the Circuit

Court recognized that PERS presented enough evidence and thorough analysis of such evidence to support its finding that Ms. Case is not disabled.

In the case of *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Thomas*, 809 So. 2d 690 (Miss App. 2001), Justice Southwick in a dissenting opinion stated:

The committee did not need nor was there any procedure to receive substantial evidence of *non-disability*. What is necessary is a reasoned, non-arbitrary decision that substantial evidence of disability had not been presented.

As recognized by the Circuit Court the recommendation of the Disability Appeals

Committee is a well reasoned and non-arbitrary decision that the Order of the Board of

Trustees is supported by substantial evidence.

The Order of the PERS Board of Trustees was supported by substantial evidence, and was neither arbitrary nor capricious. PERS was within its authority in making this determination, and was not in violation of Ms. Case's constitutional rights. Thus, the Order of the Circuit Court affirming the decision of the PERS Board of Trustees must be upheld.

I. THE DECISION OF THE CIRCUIT COURT AFFIRMING THE ORDER OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM DENYING MS. CASE'S CLAIM FOR DISABILITY IS BASED ON SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND IS NEITHER ARBITRARY NOR CAPRICIOUS.

Substantial evidence "is that which affords a substantial basis of fact from which the fact in issue can be reasonably inferred." Johnston v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 827 So. 2d 1, 3 (Miss. App. 2002); Also see: Brakefield v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 940 So. 2d. at 948 Brinston v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 827 So. 2d at 3; Davis v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 750 So. 2d

1225, 1233 (Miss. 1999), Delta CMI v. Speck, 586 So. 2d 768 (Miss. 1991) In Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d at 1284 this Court noted that substantial evidence is "something more than a 'mere scintilla' or suspicion...[I]t has 'been defined by this Court as 'such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion" The facts, as presented in the record before this Court, support the decision of the PERS Board of Trustees and the Circuit Court that Ms. Case is not entitled to the receipt of a disability benefit pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. Section 25-11-113.

"Unless PERS' order was not supported by substantial evidence, or was arbitrary or capricious, the reviewing court should not disturb its conclusions." *Public Employees'*Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d at 1284.

This Honorable Court has defined arbitrary and capricious. "An administrative agency's decision is arbitrary when it is not done according to reason and judgment, but depending on the will alone." *Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Natchez Community Hospital*, 743 So. 2d 973, 977 (Miss. 1999). "An action is capricious if done without reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or disregard for the surrounding facts and settled controlling principles." *Id.* The record supports PERS' finding, thus, the action of the PERS Board of Trustees, upheld by the Circuit Court, is neither arbitrary nor capricious.

The evidence in the record before this Court shows that Ms. Case claimed that she was unable to perform her duties as a secretary for the Brookhaven School District.

Ms. Case asserted numerous medical problems for her inability to perform these secretarial tasks. Among these medical problems are hypertension, arrhythmia,

fibromyalgia, arthritis in knees and arms, and depression and anxiety. (Vol. 2, Pp. 31, 42, 103, 130, 131) However, Ms. Case stated in her testimony before the PERS Disability Committee "the main reason that I cannot work is because I have a nearly uncontrollable high blood pressure." (Vol. 2, P. 39)

Using the records as provided by Ms. Case, the Disability Appeals Committee made the following summary of the medical findings:

### Hypertension (high blood pressure)

Ms. Case attributes a substantial number of work days and work time lost as a result of her 'uncontrollable hypertension,' and in her direct testimony to the PERS Disability Appeals Committee stated her 'main problem' was her blood pressure and heart problems. Ms. Case stated that she would have to frequently discontinue her duties because of chest pain and weakness episodes that she attributed to elevated blood pressure. Braxter P. Irby, Jr., M.D., of Brookhaven, MS, has served as Ms. Case's primary care physician since 1995., for diagnoses including hypertension, paroxysmal atrial fibrillation, morbid obesity, osteoarthritis, fibromyalgia, and hiatal hernia. On repeated visits to her primary care physician, and on visits to cardiology specialists, Ms. Case's blood pressure is clearly documented within acceptable levels. In fact, a detailed review of sixty-five pages of medical records supplied by Dr. Irby reveals only a few instances where Ms. Case experienced abnormal blood pressure readings.

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